1984

The State of Utah v. Calvin George Smith, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, Calvin George Smith, Jr., appeals from a conviction and judgment of Aggravated Robbery, a felony of the First Degree, and Theft, a felony of the Second Degree, in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Judge, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, Calvin George Smith, Jr., was charged with Aggravated Robbery, a felony of the First Degree, in violation of Title 76, Chapter 2, Section 202, Title 76, Chapter 3 Section 203(1), and Title 76, Chapter 6, Section 302 Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended) and Theft, a felony of the Second Degree, in violation of Title 76, Chapter 2, Section 202, Title 76, Chapter 3, Section 203(2), and Title 76, Chapter 6, Section 404 Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended). He was

convicted as charged in a jury trial and was sentenced to incarceration at the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term as provided by law respectfully.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the conviction for Aggravated Burglary and Theft and the judgment rendered below and/or to have the case remanded to the Third Judicial District for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 1, 1981, Alma G. Winn was the victim of an Aggravated Robbery and a Theft. Mr. Winn was accosted during the evening hours as he exited his vehicle and attempted to walk from his vehicle through his garage and into his home. Mr. Winn was robbed at gun point by two assailants (T.6-10).

At trial, the prosecution introduced the testimony of two witnesses who both implicated the appellant in the commission of this offense. One witness, Jay Sanchez, received complete immunity for both this first degree felony (T.22) as well as thirty to forty other first degree felonies (T.63). The other witness who implicated the appellant, Edwin Mitchell, was a co-defendant up until the evening immediately preceding the commencement of the trial (T.98). At that late date, Mr. Mitchell struck a deal with the prosecution and agreed to testify against the appellant in return for being permitted to plead to the lesser charge of robbery (T.99). On the strength

of these witnesses, both of whom had a motive to lie, the appellant was convicted by a jury.

During closing arguments, defense counsel for the appellant pointed out for the jury that a reasonable doubt could arise from the absence or a lack of evidence. Specifically, defense counsel pointed to the fact that two witnesses had not been called to testify on behalf of the State. At that point, the Court interrupted counsel and instructed the jury to disregard defense counsel's statements and further instructed the jury that the defendant had just as much right as the State to call the two "missing" witnesses to the stand. The appellant moved for a new trial on the basis that the Court's comment infringed on the appellant's right not to incriminate himself and not to present evidence. The motion for a new trial was denied. (See closing argument transcript pp.35-36.)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY THE STATE TO ESTABLISH GUILT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT AS TO ANY OFFENSE.

The jury found the appellant guilty of aggravated robbery, a first degree felony and theft, a second degree felony. The evidence presented at trial is insufficient to support the jury's verdict of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

The victim of the robbery was not able to identify his

assailants. He testified that it was dark in the garage where the robbery took place (T.10-11) and that both men had black silk stocking caps over their heads (T.6). The only evidence linking the appellant to the robbery was testimony from two individuals who had also been arrested for the same robbery. One of the witnesses was granted immunity for the robbery in return for his testimony against the appellant (T.63). The second witness was given a "deal," allowed to plead guilty to the lesser charge of robbery, in exchange for his testimony (T.99). Both of these witnesses had strong motives to lie. The appellant took the stand in his own behalf and testified that on the night in question he and his co-defendants spent the night with his father and step-mother (T.192). He testified that Mr. Fernandez left at approximately 4:00 a.m. on January 1st (T.199), but the appellant remained at his father's house until late that afternoon (T.203). This testimony was corroborated by Carol Smith, the appellant's step-mother (T.151-154). No physical evidence was presented which tied the appellant to the robbery nor was there any evidence presented to corroborate the testimony of the state's witnesses.

It is well settled that a reviewing court has the authority to review a conviction based upon sufficiency of the evidence. The standard for review was clearly stated in State v. Wilson, 565 P.2d 66,68 (1977):

In order for the defendant to successfully challenge and overturn a verdict on the ground of insufficiency of the evidence,

it must appear that upon viewing the evidence, reasonable minds must necessarily entertain a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime.

Two conflicting versions of where the appellant was on the night of the robbery were presented at trial. One version was presented by two individuals who both had strong motives to lie. The second version was presented by the appellant and by his step-mother. Both the appellant and his step-mother testified that they did not have a close relationship (T.161,192-93) and therefore, the step-mother was the only witness who really had no personal stake in the outcome and no reason to lie. On a 1978 manslaughter case, State v. John, 586 P.2d 410, 419 (Utah 1978), this court stated:

[A]n accused is presumed to be innocent until his guilt is proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Consequently, if there is any reasonable view of the credible evidence which is reconcilable with the defendant's innocence, it would naturally flow that there would be reasonable doubt as to his guilt.

Ample evidence was presented at trial to indicate that the appellant was at home with his family on the night that the robbery occurred. This evidence was refuted only by two individuals with strong motives to lie. There must be reasonable doubt as to which of the witnesses' stories was true and, therefore, there must be reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the appellant. In light of this doubt, the verdict cannot stand.

POINT II

IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE COURT TO
COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE DURING DEFENSE
COUNSEL'S CLOSING ARGUMENT.

During the closing argument by counsel for the appellant, the following exchange took place:

MR. BUDGEN: Why does he--you know, why do these guys use Jay Sanchez?

All he does is supply the gun. Isn't that interesting? Do you honestly believe that that is all that Jay Sanchez did in these cases? This case? Do you think all he did was supply a gun, that that was it, that he was just along for his good companionship beyond that?

Jay Sanchez planned these things. They gave immunity to the bad guy. The bad guy. That is who they gave immunity to.

What else does he tell us about the gun? He always had it handy, he kept it at his cousin, Dickie Carrillo's house. Dickie Carrillo, who we know he did another robbery with. We know that. He can't deny that because Dickie is caught with him and he tells the authorities that at that time. Dickie always keeps his gun.

Well, I wonder if Dickie Carrillo wasn't at the Winn robbery. I wonder if Dickie Carrillo wasn't there with a gun, too, and where was Dickie Carrillo? Whose burden of proof is it?

It's Mr. Soltis's burden of proof and evidence can arise not from what is actually presented, but a reasonable doubt can always exist with respect to what is never presented.

Where is Dickie Carrillo? Where is Shawna Johnson? Where are these witnesses? The State never produced those witnesses.

THE COURT: I am going to tell the jury you had as much right to bring them in as anybody and they were not necessary, and the State did not have any requirement to bring them into this case regarding as to other matters. And the jury will disregard what Counsel said, where is Shawna Johnson and Dickie Carrillo, because the State had no burden as relates to them in this case and the

defendant had all of the rights of the State to bring them in.

MR. BUDGEN: May I proceed, your Honor?

THE COURT: Now, let's proceed and keep within our rules.

(Closing argument T.35-36.) The court's comment on the evidence and refusal to allow defense counsel to comment on the absent witnesses was reversible error on a number of separate grounds.

A. THE FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 12 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION FORBID COMMENT ON THE ASSERTION OF THE RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT AND NOT INCRIMINATE ONESELF.

It has been well settled since the decision in Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 609 (1965), that comment on a defendant's decision not to take the stand and hence to remain silent is reversible error. In Griffin, the U.S. Supreme Court was asked to rule on the constitutionality of a California rule allowing comment on the fact that a defendant had not testified. In finding the rule unconstitutional, the court stated:

[C]omment on the refusal to testify is a remnant of the "inquisitorial system of criminal justice," Murphy v. Waterfront Comm'n, 378 U.S. 52, 55, 12 L.Ed. 2d 678, 681, 84 S.Ct. 1594, which the Fifth Amendment outlaws. It is a penalty imposed by courts for exercising a constitutional privilege. It cuts down on the privilege by making its assertion costly. . . . We . . . hold that the Fifth Amendment, in its direct application to the Federal Government, and in its bearing on the States by reason of the Fourteenth Amendment, forbids either comment by the prosecution on the accused's silence or instructions by the court that such silence is evidence of guilt.

ii at 614-15.

The Utah Supreme Court has also held prosecutorial comment on the evidence reversible error. In State v. Eaton, 569 P.2d 1114 (Utah 1977), the prosecutor, in his closing argument, stated that "only [the] government witness and defendant 'really knows what took place in that house' and 'What does the defendant tell us?'" Id. at 114. The prosecutor also remarked that they "never heard one shread of evidence from the defendant' in support of defendant's contention. . . ." Id. This court held that those remarks constituted reversible error despite the fact that the prosecutor did not directly comment on the defendant's failure to testify. The court stated that the prosecutor's remarks were

. . . but a thinly disguised attempt to do indirectly what the prosecutor knew could not properly be done directly: that is, to comment on the fact that the defendant had chosen not to take the witness stand; and to persuade the jury to draw inferences as to his guilt because of his exercise of that constitutional privilege.

Id. at 1116.

In a more recent case, State v. Urias, 609 P.2d 1326, 1335 (Utah 1980), this court said: "[W]hen a person invokes his constitutional right, the prosecution should not comment thereon nor so use it in any way that will tend to impair or destroy that privilege."

In the present case, as an offshoot of the defendant's constitutional right to remain silent, a decision was made not to use particular witnesses. The court erred in commenting on this decision and the comment clearly tended to impair the

defendant's right not to produce the witnesses.

- B. EVEN IF IT IS FOUND THAT THE COURT'S COMMENT DID NOT VIOLATE THE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT, THE COMMENT DID IMPERMISSIBLY SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE TO THE APPELLANT IN THE EYES OF THE JURY.

It is a well established tenet that it is the burden of the prosecution to prove every element of the offense charged. This court clearly stated in State v. Mitcheson, 560 P.2d 1120, 1122 (Utah 1977), "The entry of a plea of not guilty places upon the State the burden of proving every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt." The defense has no burden of proof and no burden of production of evidence. "The ultimate burden of proving the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt remains on the state, whether defendant offers any evidence in an effort to prove affirmative defenses or not." State v. Torres, 619 P.2d 694, 695 (Utah 1980). The comment of the court made it appear to the jury that the appellant had a duty to call witnesses. From the appellant's failure to call these witnesses then the inference that their testimony would have been harmful to the appellant was clear. As the appellant had no burden to produce evidence, the inference that he should have called the mentioned witnesses which must be drawn from the court's comment was clearly prejudicial and reversible error.

POINT III

IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE COURT TO REFUSE TO ALLOW DEFENSE COUNSEL TO COMMENT IN HIS CLOSING ARGUMENT ON THE ABSENT WITNESSES.

A recent Utah Supreme Court case, State v. Potter, 627 P.2d 74,78 (1981) stated: "The trial court has a duty to instruct the jury on the law applicable to the facts of the case. Encompassed in this duty is the right of the defendant to have his theory of the case presented to the jury in a clear and understandable way." See also State v. Stone, 629 P.2d 442 (Utah 1981); State v. Brown, 607 P.2d 261 (Utah 1980); State v. Eagle, 611 P.2d 1211 (Utah 1980). By refusing to allow the appellant's counsel to comment on the missing witnesses, the court effectively prevented the defense counsel from presenting the defense theory of the case to the jury.

It was obvious from the testimony that the defense theory of this case relied heavily on the appellant's ability and the likelihood that two other individuals, the missing witnesses, were the actual participants in the robbery. The court would not allow defense counsel to present this theory.

The requirements to allow comment on missing witnesses were well articulated in United States v. Mahone, 537 F.2d 927 (7th Cir. 1976). The requirements mentioned in that case include (1) that the absent witness is particularly within the other party's power to produce; and (2) that the testimony of the

witness would elucidate issues in the case and not be merely cumulative. Both of these requirements were met in the present case.

The first requirement, according to the Mahone case, either when the witness is physically available only to the opposing party or when "the witness has a relationship with the opposing party 'that would in a pragmatic sense make his testimony unavailable to the opposing party regardless of physical availability.'" Id. at 926. The situation in the case at bar falls within the second alternative. Since the purpose of having Carrillo and Johnson testify would have been to clear the appellant by incriminating themselves, it is not reasonable to believe that either missing witness would have testified for the defense. The second Mahone requirement is also met in this case. The testimony of the absent witnesses would not have been cumulative and would have elucidated some critical issues in this case.

Because the facts meet the requirements established by United States v. Mahone, supra, the defense counsel should have been allowed to comment on the absent witnesses during this closing argument. The failure to allow such comment prevented the defense from effectively presenting its theory of the case which is a right long recognized by Utah courts. The court's refusal to allow comment on the missing witnesses was clearly prejudicial to the appellant and must therefore be considered reversible error.

CONCLUSION

The evidence presented at trial was not sufficient to sustain a verdict of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of aggravated robbery and theft. Not only was the evidence presented contradictory and inconclusive but there was also ample evidence presented to give rise to a reasonable doubt under the standard articulated in State v. John, supra. The conviction therefore, cannot stand and must be reversed.

The comment made by the court during the closing argument of defense counsel was reversible error as it violated the appellant's right against self-incrimination and it shifted the burden of production of evidence to the appellant in the eyes of the jury. The court's refusal to allow defense counsel to comment upon the missing witnesses was error as it prevented the defense from adequately presenting its theory of the case.

In State v. Eaton, 569 P.2d 1114, 1116 (Utah 1977), this court stated:

Consistent with the nature of criminal proceedings and the protections accorded those accused of crime under our law, including the presumption of innocence and the burden of the state to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, we believe that, on appeal, when there is a reasonable doubt as to whether the error below was prejudicial, that doubt should be resolved in favor of the defendant. This is especially true where the error involved is one which transgresses against the exercise of a constitutional right. Consequently, the rule which we have numerous times stated is that if the error is such as to justify a belief that it had a substantial adverse

effect upon the defendant's right to a fair trial, in that there is a reasonable likelihood that in its absence there may have been a different result, then the error should not be regarded as harmless, and conversely, if the error is such that it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that it was harmless in that the result would have been the same, then the error should not be deemed prejudicial and warrant granting a new trial.

In the instant case, the error was prejudicial and the court's comment clearly had a substantial adverse effect upon the defendant's right to a fair trial. Because of this, the conviction cannot stand.