1984

The State of Utah v. Calvin George Smith, Jr. : Brief of Respondent

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

It is the duty of the trial court to correct mistakes of law made by counsel in argument to the jury, and, on its own motion, to interrupt and admonish counsel when he exceeds the bounds of legitimate argument.

45 Am. Jur. 2d, Trial § 117 (1974) (footnotes omitted). See 75 Am. Jur. 2d, Trial § 318 (1974); Annot., 62 A.L.R.2d 166, 251-

253 (1958 & Supp. 1984); State v. Gilbert, 99 N.M. 316, 319, 657 P.2d 1165, 1168 (1982) ("The trial court has broad discretion in controlling argument to the jury. If no abuse of this discretion or prejudice to the defendant is evident, error does not result."). Judge Baldwin properly stopped appellant's closing argument because it misstated the State's legal burden of proof.

Judge Baldwin stated that the State bore no burden in producing witnesses not known to have seen or been involved in the case at hand (T3. 36). See State v. Middelstadt, Utah, 579 P.2d 908, 910 (1978) (there is no rule governing the number of witnesses needed before the trier of fact can determine the weight of a witness' testimony). The jury in this case already had the testimonies of Sanchez and Mitchell.

Nonetheless, counsel argued to the jury that, inasmuch as Carrillo and Johnson had been involved once in a robbery with Sanchez, they were likely involved with Sanchez and Mitchell in the Winn robbery (T3. 34-37). Therefore, he argued, the State should have produced them as witnesses (T3. 36). This reasoning is nonsensical.

Counsel alleged at trial that Sanchez had participated in some forty felonies (T1. 63, 73-74, 80-81); Carrillo and Johnson were known accomplices in only one of those alleged felonies (T1. 75-76, 90-94). Assuming that there were 40 felonies, under defense counsel's reasoning, anyone who may have participated in the other 39 felonies should also have been called by the State as witnesses to "clear themselves." Under

this theory, perhaps all known and possible acquaintances of Sanchez should have been brought into court. Perhaps Sanchez was working with "new blood" on the Winn robbery. Under such reasoning, appellant could continually suggest "possible others" who might have been involved ad infinitum.

The State was only required to meet its burden of proving the elements of the theft and aggravated robbery charges beyond a reasonable doubt. Because this burden was incorrectly stated by the defense to the jury, Judge Baldwin was justified in intervening and correcting counsel's error.

In 1979, after citing a similar exchange between the trial judge and defense counsel during the latter's closing argument, this Court stated:

Defendant claims that the court's comments misstated the law so as to mislead the jury [and] that to not permit the defense to argue that the state has failed to prove an element of the offense is to effectively direct a verdict in favor of the state. . . .

* * *

To have allowed defense counsel's arguments to go unchallenged, the jurors would have been led to believe that the state had failed to prove one of the elements of the crime. The court judiciously corrected any confusion which may have arisen.

State v. Piepenburg, Utah, 602 P.2d 702, 707-708 (1979).

Likewise, Judge Baldwin judiciously corrected any confusion which defense counsel's remarks may have created in the minds of the jurors in this case. His comment, then, was proper.

However, not only did defense counsel's comments misstate the State's legal burden of proof, they suggested the propriety of the "missing witness" inference in a situation

where, even under appellant's case law, such an inference could not properly be drawn to the jurors' attention. Admittedly, the "missing witness" inference has been judicially recognized for nearly a century. See Graves v. United States, 150 U.S. 118, 121 (1894). That inference has been summarized as follows:

[I]f a party has it peculiarly within his powers to produce witnesses whose testimony would elucidate the transaction, the fact that he does not do it permits an inference that the testimony, if produced, would have been unfavorable.

United States v. Young, 463 F.2d 934, 939 (D.C. Cir. 1972).

Recently, however, this inference has undergone greater judicial scrutiny and caution in its application, the primary reasons being (1) that comment on the inference can easily be misleading, (2) that its invocation at the end of the trial may unnecessarily surprise the other party who was unaware that it might be invoked, and (3) that the record is often inadequate to support its invocation. Comment, "Drawing an Inference from the Failure to Produce a Knowledgeable Witness," 61 Calif. L. Rev. 1422, 1426, 1428-1429 (1973).

The D.C. Circuit has determined that "comment by counsel . . . as to absent witnesses is prohibited if either of the conditions [for its invocation] is lacking, that the witness was peculiarly within the power of the party to produce, and that his testimony would elucidate the transaction." United States v. Young, 463 F.2d 934, 939-940 (D.C. Cir. 1972). Likewise, the Seventh Circuit (which earlier had decided the Mahone case relied upon by appellant) held last year that

before a party can properly argue to the jury the possibility of drawing such an inference from the absence of a witness, the party must establish that the missing witness was peculiarly within the adversary's power to produce by showing either that the witness is physically available only to the opponent or that the witness has the type of relationship with the opposing party that pragmatically renders his testimony unavailable to the opposing party.

Chicago College of Osteopathic Medicine v. George A. Fuller Co.,
719 F.2d 1335, 1353 (7th Cir. 1983) (emphasis added).

Under this standard, defense counsel was precluded from arguing the "missing witness" theory to the jury. The record does not show that Carrillo and Johnson were peculiarly within the power of the State to produce as witnesses. It did not show that they were involved in any way (e.g., as an informer) with the development of the State's case. See United States v. Mahone, 537 F.2d 922, 926-927 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1025 (1976); Burgess v. United States, 440 F.2d 226, 232 (D.C. Cir. 1970). Nor does appellant point to any evidence in the record to support a claim that their testimonies would be noncumulative or superior to the testimony rendered by Sanchez and Mitchell. United States v. Mahone, 537 F.2d 922, 926 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1025 (1976); Brown v. United States, 414 F.2d 1165, 1166-1167 n.2 (D.C. Cir. 1969).

Appellant argues, however, that Carrillo and Johnson were unavailable to the defense in a pragmatic sense, alleging that "[s]ince the purpose [sic] of having Carrillo and Johnson testify would have been to clear the appellant by incriminating themselves, it is not reasonable to believe that either missing

witness would have testified for the defense." Even if this were the case, defense counsel would have been precluded from alluding to the inference since only one of the two requirements or conditions of the inference would have been established. United States v. Young, 463 F.2d 934, 939-940 (D.C. Cir. 1972).

Furthermore, appellant has failed to even establish this form of unavailability under Utah law, which requires that appellant first subpoena the missing witnesses to the witness stand and give them a chance to assert their privileges against self-incrimination before he may consider them as "unavailable." In State v. White, Utah, 671 P.2d 191 (1983), this Court--referring to a missing witness in the case--observed:

There is no merit to the appellant's contention that defense counsel could not call Latham to testify because she knew Latham would invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege. . . . Using the exercise of a privilege as evidence is readily distinguishable from using it to demonstrate a declarant's unavailability. The latter, far from being prohibited, may be required. Without subpoenaing Latham and interviewing him. . . ., defense counsel had no means of establishing whether he would assert his privilege or not.

* * *

[A]n attorney's knowledge that a witness intends to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination does not bar calling that witness for the purpose of showing his unavailability.

State v. White, Utah, 671 P.2d 191, 193-194 (1983).

In this case, appellant's counsel asserts that a decision was made to not use Carrillo and Johnson as witnesses. Although the above passage may be read as not necessarily requiring that the witnesses be called by the complaining party

to show their unavailability, it does make it clear that something ought to have been done to show that unavailability. The record does not show that anything of this nature was done in the present case. Therefore, appellant has failed to satisfy the first prong of the Mahone test, that the witnesses were peculiarly within the power of the State to produce. Judge Baldwin wisely barred defense counsel from improperly arguing the "missing witness" inference to the jury.

Appellant claims that the judge's comment did severe damage to his case at trial. He contends that it prevented him from effectively presenting the theory of his case to the jury, that it shifted to appellant the burden of producing witnesses, and that it infringed upon his constitutional right to remain silent. These claims are not borne out by the record.

Even if there were some support for these claims, "[t]he burden of showing error is on the party who seeks to upset the judgment." State v. Jones, Utah, 657 P.2d 1263, 1266-1267 (1982). The standard which appellant must meet in showing such error was recently summarized by this court as follows:

Rule 30 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure directs that "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect the substantial rights of a party shall be disregarded." § 77-35-30. We have interpreted this rule to mean that error is reversible only if a review of the record persuades the court that without the error there was "a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result for the defendant." State v. Hutchison, Utah, 655 P.2d 635, 637 (1982).

State v. Fontana, Utah, --P.2d--, No. 17796, slip op. at 9

(March 2, 1984). See State v. Urias, Utah, 609 P.2d 1326, 1329

(1980); State v. Pierre, Utah, 572 P.2d 1338, 1352 (1977), reh'g denied, State v. Andrews, 576 P.2d 857, cert denied, 439 U.S. 882 (1978); State v. Eaton, Utah, 569 P.2d 1114, 1117 (1977). Appellant has not shown that the alleged error in this case was so substantial or prejudicial that there would have been a different result in its absence.

Appellant cites a number of cases to support his position that he had a right to present the theory of his case to the jury in a clear and understandable way. He then alleges that Judge Baldwin erroneously prevented him from exercising that right during closing argument.

Appellant has misstated these cases, all of which deal with when and how jury instructions are to be presented by the court. Moreover, they merely stand for the proposition that, where there is evidence sufficient to justify a proposed jury instruction on a given issue, the trial court has a duty to adequately instruct the jury on that issue. See State v. Stone, Utah, 629 P.2d 442, 446 (1981); State v. Potter, Utah, 627 P.2d 75, 78 (1981); State v. Eagle, Utah, 611 P.2d 1211, 1213 (1980); State v. Brown, Utah, 607 P.2d 261, 265-266 (1980).

In this case, the defense had not even submitted an instruction to the court pertaining to the "missing witness" inference. Assuming that counsel had even thought of the issue prior to closing argument, he made a tactical decision to wait until after the jury had been instructed and the State had argued its case to bring up the absence of Carrillo and Johnson. Appellant now challenges the judge's comment which, he claims,

prevented him from effectively presenting this theory of his case. Certainly, if this had been the theory of his case, he would have at least asked for an instruction in that regard.

It is true that Sanchez was asked on cross-examination whether Carrillo and Johnson were involved in the Winn robbery (Tl. 68, 80). But asking those questions and receiving Sanchez's negative responses were hardly sufficient to make it appear "obvious from the testimony" that the "missing witness" issue comprised the issue (or even an issue) of appellant's case--particularly when those questions and responses comprised a total of less than one page of the 200-plus pages of testimony rendered at trial (Tl. 68, 80).

In sum, Judge Baldwin prevented appellant from using the surprise tactic of introducing a new issue at the end of the trial.

Appellant also argues that the judge's comment shifted the burden of production to him, making it appear to the jury that he had a duty to call witnesses. It is undisputed that the State bears the burden of proving appellant guilty and that appellant has no duty to call witnesses that might exculpate himself. Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-1-501, 77-1-6(2)(c) (1978); State v. Starks, Utah, 627 P.2d 88, 92 (1981); State v. Housekeeper, Utah, 588 P.2d 139, 140 (1978). However, it is also clear that the judge's comment did not depict an affirmative duty on appellant to call Carrillo and Johnson as witnesses.

Judge Baldwin stated, in pertinent part:

I am going to tell the jury you had as much right to bring them in as anybody and they

were not necessary [T]he State had no burden as relates to them in this case and the defendant had all of the rights of the State to bring them in.

(T3. 36) (emphasis added). Judge Baldwin spoke of rights, not duties. He was merely indicating that the defense could have called Carrillo and Johnson as witnesses had it believed that their testimonies were important or essential to a proper disposition of this case.

Section 77-1-6(2)(c) indicates that a defendant may not be compelled to give evidence against himself, not that he has no right to give such evidence. Here, Judge Baldwin was merely clarifying the respective rights and duties of the parties: the State had no duty to call the two witnesses, and the defense was not precluded from doing such had it so desired. Certainly, it was not prejudicial error for the judge to make a curative or ameliorative statement to the jury in an effort to neutralize the improper remarks made by defense counsel in his closing argument.

Finally, appellant claims that as an offshoot of the defendant's constitutional right to remain silent, a decision was made not to use particular witnesses; and that the court erred in commenting on this decision, which comment tended to impair his right not to produce witnesses. First, appellant's cases are not on point. They address solely the issue of prosecutorial comment and judicial instruction regarding a defendant's decision to invoke his constitutional privilege against self-incrimination and not testify at trial. They say nothing of an "offshoot" of that right--a constitutional right

to not produce witnesses. Furthermore, appellant does not show how this comment "clearly tended to impair" that alleged right.

Assuming that the right does follow from the privilege against self-incrimination,⁹ appellant is estopped from alleging error regarding the judge's comment because (1) he waived his privilege against self-incrimination when he took the stand and testified; and (2) by his counsel's remarks during closing argument about the so-called missing witnesses, he opened himself up to either judicial comment or prosecutorial rebuttal.

The privilege against self-incrimination is waived when a defendant takes the stand and offers his own testimony; he then is like any other witness at trial. State v. Green, Utah, 578 P.2d 512, 514 (1978); State v. Anderson, 27 Utah 2d 276, 279, 495 P.2d 804, 806 (1972); State v. Adams, 26 Utah 2d 377, 380-381, 489 P.2d 1191, 1193 (1971). Speaking of the privilege against self-incrimination, this Court observed in 1964:

The defense could either claim the privilege or waive it, whichever it thought would be to

⁹ The Fifth Amendment provides that "[n]o person . . . shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself. . . ." U.S. Const. amend V (emphasis added). The broader language of the Utah constitutional provision, codified in Utah Code Ann. § 77-1-6(2)(c) (1978), perhaps more appropriately encompasses the right argued for by appellant (if it does), where it says that an "accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself." Utah Const. art I, § 12 (emphasis added). Even then, appellant does not show that the testimony of the missing witnesses would have been "against himself;" indeed, he indicates that should they have testified, they would have allegedly incriminated themselves and exculpated appellant. Appellant has illogically tried to convert a personal choice to not call Carrillo and Johnson as witnesses (persons who allegedly would have helped his case) into a constitutionally-protected right.

its best advantage. But it could not engage in halfway measures by waiving the privilege and obtaining the benefit of having [the defendant] testify and still claim some of the protection refusal to testify affords. . . . [I]f the privilege is claimed it should be scrupulously protected. But when it is waived, it is done away with just as though it did not exist

State v. Brown, 16 Utah 2d 57, 59, 395 P.2d 727, 728-729 (1964).

In this case, appellant took the stand and offered testimony (T2. 186-218). Since he had waived his privilege, he had none upon which the trial judge could comment. Therefore, no error was committed.

Furthermore, appellant opened himself up for attack when his counsel improperly brought up the "missing witness" issue at trial. In an analogous situation, this Court has determined that comment upon issues, which might otherwise be inappropriate, may be proper when the defendant (or his counsel) opens himself up to attack by his own comments in that regard:

It is of note that the trial court viewed the prosecution's remarks to be harmless error, if error at all, as defense counsel had opened the subject, and the prosecution was clearly entitled to some rebuttal It was unwise and hazardous for defense counsel to make comments as he did on defendant's failure to testify, as it triggered the mechanism or rebuttal by the prosecution, and hence, may have invited error [T]he court was wholly within its discretion in ruling as it did.

State v. Eagle, Utah, 611 P.2d 1211, 1214 (1980).

In this case, it was the judge, and not the prosecution, which made the comment to correct any "invited error" made by defense counsel (T3. 36). Nonetheless, the same reasoning applies. Judge Baldwin did not take it upon himself

comment on appellant's failure to call Carrillo and Johnson without provocation; the judge was correcting errors made by defense counsel when he improperly commented on the State's alleged failure to call them as witnesses. Having opened up the discussion on the issue, and having done so in such a way as might confuse the jury, appellant was not substantially prejudiced by the judge's curative comment. Hence, no constitutional rights were violated.

Even assuming that error was somehow committed by the judge's comment, appellant has not properly preserved the issue for appellate review. In State v. Steggell, Utah, 660 P.2d 252, 254 (1983), this Court held:

In the absence of exceptional circumstances, this Court has long refused to review matters raised for the first time on appeal where no timely and proper objection was made in the trial court.

Id. (defendant had failed to make any objection to the court's comments at the time they were made or during the course of the trial, and then raised the issue for the first time on appeal). See Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-12(d) (1982); State v. John, Utah, 667 P.2d 32, 33 (1983); Jaramillo v. Turner, 24 Utah 2d 19, 21, 465 P.2d 343, 344 (1970); State v. Starlight Club, 17 Utah 2d 174, 406 P.2d 912, 913 (1965). And in State v. Malmrose, Utah, 649 P.2d 56, 58 (1982), this Court stated that where no objection is made at trial, assignments of error are only to be considered to the extent that they bear upon an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Appellant claims no exceptional circumstances in his brief to warrant appellate consideration of

an issue that was waived through the lack of a timely objection at trial. Neither does appellant's issue relate to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Appellant should not now be able to claim prejudice with respect to the court's comment.

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